# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### NAAMAN JAMAL WASHINGTON

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RABI LAHIRI Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#### **

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Washington's conviction for possession of marijuana must be vacated because he suffered ineffective assistance of counsel when his trial attorney failed to properly conduct the CrR 3.6 hearing and to propose a jury instruction that was necessary to implement his lawful-possession affirmative defense.

The conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm is also erroneous. The jury was instructed to use the evidence of Mr.

Washington's criminal history only to evaluate his credibility as a witness, and for no other purpose. This instruction, given without objection, became the law of the case and prohibited the jurors from using evidence of Mr. Washington's prior conviction as substantive evidence. The jury therefore had no substantive evidence before it to establish that Mr. Washington had been convicted of a serious offense. Because that is a required element of unlawful possession of a firearm, the conviction must be reversed for insufficient evidence.

Finally, insufficient evidence supported the court's finding that Mr. Washington had the current or likely future ability to pay any discretionary legal financial obligations (LFOs). The finding was

therefore erroneous. And because the order for the LFOs cannot stand without a valid finding of ability to pay, the order must be vacated.

#### **B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. Mr. Washington received ineffective assistance of counsel at his CrR 3.6 hearing.
- 2. Mr. Washington received ineffective assistance of counsel at his trial.
- 3. The jury's guilty verdict on the firearm charge was not supported by sufficient evidence in the record.
- 4. The court erred in finding that Mr. Washington had the current or likely future ability to pay LFOs without sufficient evidence to support the finding.

#### C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. Criminal defendants are constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of counsel. Where Mr. Washington's trial attorney failed to introduce evidence at his CrR 3.6 hearing that was available and highly favorable to his claims, and failed at trial to propose a jury instruction that would allow the jury to find in Mr. Washington's favor on the affirmative defense to the marijuana-possession charge that he

had presented and supported, did he receive ineffective assistance of counsel? (Assignments of Error 1, 2.)

- 2. Jury instructions delivered without objection become the law of the case and bind the jury and the parties. The jury here was instructed only to consider evidence of Mr. Washington's criminal history to evaluate his credibility as a witness, and for no other purpose. Where the jury delivered a guilty verdict that required it to substantively find that Mr. Washington had been previously convicted of a serious offense, was its verdict based on insufficient evidence? (Assignment of Error 3.)
- 3. If a trial court during sentencing enters an explicit finding that a defendant has the current or likely future ability to pay LFOs, that finding must be supported by evidence in the record. Did the trial court err by finding that Mr. Washington had the current or likely future ability to pay without inquiring into his financial circumstances and without other evidence in the record on which to base its finding? (Assignment of Error 4.)

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 22, 2011, Naaman Washington was riding as a passenger in a car that belonged to California Smith-Usher. Supp. CP

\_\_\_\_ at 1-2 (Findings and Conclusions on Admissibility of Evidence CrR 3.6 / Motion to Dismiss re: *Knapstad*, filed Mar. 22, 2013) (3.6 Ruling). Mr. Usher was driving. *Id*. Shortly before 10:00 p.m., Washington State Patrol Trooper James Meldrum ran a random check of Mr. Usher's license plate as they drove through Tacoma on I-5. *Id*.; RP 14-15. The plate check revealed that Mr. Usher's license was suspended. RP 15-16. After verifying that the driver's appearance matched Usher's description, Meldrum pulled the car over. *Id*.

Upon approaching the driver's side window to conduct the traffic stop, Meldrum noticed a bag on the passenger-side floor containing a substance that he suspected, based on its appearance and odor, to be marijuana. RP 20-21. He asked Mr. Washington what was in the bag. RP 21. Washington acknowledged that the bag contained marijuana. RP 23. He explained that he was a designated provider for a medical-marijuana patient named Latoya Cole, and only had the marijuana with him because he had been trying to deliver it to her. RP 34-36. Washington gave Meldrum copies of two documents to support this claim: a form from a provider called CannaPath indicating that Ms. Cole was an authorized patient, and a contract signed by Ms. Cole and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Verbatim Report of Proceedings for the CrR 3.6 hearing and trial is contained in seven consecutively paginated volumes. These are cited collectively as "RP."

Mr. Washington designating him as her provider and authorizing him to obtain and transport her medicinal marijuana. *Id.*; CP 87-88.

Despite being shown these documents, Trooper Meldrum arrested Mr. Washington for possession of the marijuana. 3.6 Ruling at 2. During a search incident to arrest, Meldrum located an unlabeled pill bottle in Washington's pocket that contained 22 hydrocodone pills. *Id.* Meldrum also arrested Usher for driving on a suspended license. *Id.* 

After Meldrum had arrested both men, other troopers arrived on the scene. Ex. 7,2 "631@20110522215221.mpg," at 6:30-7:00.3 Meldrum's in-car camera recorded Meldrum discussing with other troopers whether he needed a warrant to seize the suspected marijuana from the car, including comments about which particular warrant exceptions might apply. *Id.* at 12:17-14:01. Meldrum expressed his opinion that he did not need a warrant, though he also noted that he could always ask for consent to enter the vehicle to avoid the warrant requirement. *Id.* He took several pictures of the bag from the outside of the car and then, without asking for consent from either Washington or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial exhibits cited herein are included in the supplemental designation being filed simultaneously with this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This DVD was marked as Exhibit 7 both for the CrR 3.6 hearing and for trial. Supp. CP \_\_\_ (Exhibit Record (trial), filed Jan. 23, 2013); Supp. CP \_\_\_ (Exhibit Record Pretrial Hearing, filed Jan. 17, 2013.) The DVD contained recordings of the stop from two cameras in Trooper Meldrum's car, one facing forward and one facing rearward.

Usher, he opened the front passenger door and removed the bag, along with a wallet, cell phone, and set of keys. *Id.* at 12:58-15:05. He did not open any of the other car doors, remove any other items, or appear to inspect the rest of the car during the stop. *Id.* He later asked another trooper to begin the process of impounding the car. *Id.* at 16:17-16:24; RP 38-39.

After transporting Washington and Usher to the Pierce County Jail, Meldrum received a request from the tow operator to come to the tow yard where he had brought the car. RP 40. The tow operator had conducted an inventory search of the car and discovered two guns, one in the locked glove compartment and one in the pocket of a jacket in the back seat. 3.6 Ruling at 3. Meldrum obtained a telephonic seizure warrant, retrieved the guns, and entered them into evidence. *Id.*; RP 44-46.

The State charged Mr. Washington with one count of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver for the marijuana, one count of possession of a controlled substance for the hydrocodone, and two counts of unlawful possession of a firearm, one for each gun. CP 5-7.

Before trial, Mr. Washington's counsel moved to suppress the marijuana that Trooper Meldrum seized from the car. CP 69-77. The written motion argued that under *State v. Snapp*, 174 Wn.2d 177, 275 P.3d 289 (2012), the seizure could not be justified as a search incident to arrest. CP 74-75. The State responded by arguing that Trooper Meldrum seized the marijuana during a lawful inventory search prior to impounding the car. CP 54-56. At the suppression hearing, Trooper Meldrum and the tow-truck driver testified about the events of that evening. RP 13-91. While examining these witnesses, both parties referred repeatedly to the contents of the audio/video recording from Trooper Meldrum's rear-facing in-car camera. *E.g.*, RP 49-53, 70-75. The State played several portions of this video for the court. RP 51-53.

After presenting the evidence, the parties argued whether the seizure of the marijuana was valid under the warrant exceptions for a search incident to arrest or an inventory search. RP 96-105, 107. The court found that Trooper Meldrum seized the marijuana during a lawful inventory search and denied the motion to suppress. RP 110-11; 3.6 Ruling at 2, 4.

The case proceeded to a jury trial. Mr. Washington presented the defense of lawful possession for both of the drug charges: as Latoya

Cole's designated provider for the marijuana, and pursuant to a legitimate prescription for the hydrocodone. RP 237-58, 355-69. He denied that either of the guns in the car belonged to him. *Id.* At the close of the State's case in chief, Mr. Washington moved to dismiss all four counts against him. RP 231-32. The court denied the motion as to three of the charges, but dismissed one count of unlawful possession of a firearm, finding the evidence insufficient to establish that Mr. Washington had dominion and control over the gun in the locked glove box. RP 234-35.

Mr. Washington testified in his own defense. RP 237-58, 270-85. His testimony did not include any references to prior criminal convictions, nor did the State attempt to impeach his credibility by questioning him about prior convictions. *See id.* The court later read a stipulation to the jury that Mr. Washington had previously been convicted of a "felony, which is a serious offense." RP 320. No other evidence of Mr. Washington's prior convictions was introduced.

The court instructed the jury on the three remaining charges.

The instructions describing criminal liability for possession of a controlled substance stated that "[i]t is a crime for any person to possess a controlled substance," and "[i]t is a crime for any person to

possess with intent to deliver a controlled substance." CP 112, 127.

Neither instruction included the clause "except as authorized by law," which the Pattern Jury Instructions provide for use in appropriate cases.

11 Washington Practice, *Pattern Jury Instructions—Criminal* (WPIC)

50.01, 50.13. The jury was also given an instruction describing when a person may lawfully deliver a controlled substance, CP 123, but no instruction describing when a person may lawfully possess a controlled substance with intent to deliver, with which Mr. Washington was charged. Finally, the jury was given an instruction declaring that evidence of Mr. Washington's prior convictions could be used to evaluate his credibility as a witness but for no other purpose. CP 125. Neither side objected to any of these instructions.

The jury convicted Mr. Washington on all three counts. CP 159-62. The court sentenced him to the bottom of the standard range. CP 168-77. The court ordered mandatory LFOs and, without inquiring into Mr. Washington's current or future ability to pay, also imposed discretionary LFOs of \$250. CP 170-71; RP 410-11. Mr. Washington now appeals (1) his conviction for possession of marijuana with intent to deliver, (2) his conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm, and (3) the imposition of discretionary LFOs at sentencing.

#### E. ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Washington received ineffective assistance of counsel at his CrR 3.6 hearing and at trial.

Both the federal and state constitutions guarantee criminal defendants the right to effective assistance of counsel. *State v. Hawkins*, 157 Wn. App. 739, 747, 238 P.3d 1226 (2010) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. "In evaluating ineffectiveness claims, courts must be highly deferential to counsel's decisions and there is a strong presumption that counsel performed adequately." *Hawkins*, 157 Wn. App. at 747. But for counsel to be constitutionally adequate, "[m]ore than the mere presence of an attorney is required. The attorney must perform to the standards of the profession." *Id.* An attorney who does not provide "professionally competent assistance" is constitutionally ineffective if the deficient performance prejudices the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690, 693.

To show prejudice, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694. The defendant does not, however, need to "show

that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Id.* at 693. Where a defendant establishes that he has received ineffective assistance of counsel, the proper remedy is reversal of the conviction and remand for retrial. *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 871, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

a. Mr. Washington's attorney failed to introduce available evidence at the CrR 3.6 hearing that would have established the illegality of the marijuana seizure.

At the time of the suppression hearing, Mr. Washington's trial counsel had information that likely would have caused the court to suppress the marijuana as the fruit of an illegal seizure. But he failed to introduce that evidence at the hearing. This failure cannot be explained by any reasonable strategic or tactical decision, rendering his performance deficient. And because presenting the evidence could well have changed the outcome of both the hearing and the trial on the marijuana charge, Mr. Washington suffered prejudice. The ineffective assistance Mr. Washington received from his attorney therefore requires the resulting conviction to be vacated.

i. The available evidence showed that Trooper Meldrum did not seize the marijuana during a lawful inventory search.

Article I, section 7 of the Washington Constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." Const. art. I, § 7. "Private affairs" under article I, section 7 are "those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant." State v. Myrick, 102 Wn.2d 506, 511, 688 P.2d 151 (1984). The protections of article I, section 7 are both broader and qualitatively different than those under the Fourth Amendment, because article I, section 7 explicitly protects personal privacy, while the Fourth Amendment prohibits only unreasonable government conduct. State v. Gunwall, 106 Wn.2d 54, 65, 720 P.2d 808 (1986). Thus, article I, section 7 proscribes any search or seizure conducted without authority of law, regardless of whether the search or seizure itself was reasonable. State v. Williams, 171 Wn.2d 474, 484-85, 251 P.3d 877 (2011).

As used in article I, section 7, "authority of law" means a valid warrant, or one of a "few jealously guarded exceptions" to the warrant requirement. *State v. Afana*, 169 Wn.2d at 169, 176-77, 233 P.3d 879

(2010) (citing *State v. Patton*, 167 Wn.2d 379, 386, 219 P.3d 651 (2009)). These exceptions include "consent, exigent circumstances, searches incident to a valid arrest, inventory searches, plain view, and *Terry* investigative stops." *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343, 349, 979 P.2d 833 (1999) (citing *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 71, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)). A warrantless search or seizure is presumed to violate article I, section 7, and the burden is always on the State to prove that such a search or seizure is valid under a recognized warrant exception. *Patton*, 167 Wn.2d at 386; *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 350. A trial court's findings of fact on a motion to suppress will be upheld if supported by substantial evidence, and its conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *State v. Winterstein*, 167 Wn.2d 620, 628, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009).

Trooper Meldrum did not conduct a constitutionally cognizable search when he saw and smelled the marijuana from his lawful vantage point outside the car. *See, e.g., State v. Swetz*, 160 Wn. App. 122, 134, 247 P.3d 802 (2011) (citing *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 10, 726 P.2d 445 (1986); *State v. Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d 898, 901, 632 P.2d 44 (1981)). But Meldrum's observation did not give him the right to enter the car and seize the marijuana:

If an officer, after making a lawful stop, looks into a car from the outside and sees a weapon or contraband in the car, he has not searched the car. Because there has been no search, article 1, section 7 is not implicated. Once there is an intrusion into the constitutionally protected area, article 1, section 7 is implicated and the intrusion must be justified if it is made without a warrant.

Id. (quoting Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 10, and citing State v. Myrick, 102 Wn.2d 506, 514-15, 688 P.2d 151 (1984) ("[P]lain view alone is never enough to justify the warrantless seizure of evidence. . . . [E]ven where the object is contraband, this Court has repeatedly stated and enforced the basic rule that the police may not enter and make a warrantless seizure.") (quoting Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 468, 91 S. Ct. 2022, 29 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1971))). Thus, Meldrum's entry into the car and seizure of the marijuana was unconstitutional unless it was "justified by a warrant or valid exception" under article I, section 7. Id. at 134.

The trial court held that Meldrum seized the marijuana while conducting a lawful inventory search. RP 110-11; 3.6 Ruling at 4. Inventory searches are a recognized warrant exception under article I, section 7. *Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d at 349. When police impound a vehicle, they have legitimate interests in safeguarding the vehicle owner's property, protecting themselves against claims of loss, and protecting

themselves and the public from potentially dangerous items contained in the vehicle. *State v. Tyler*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, 302 P.3d 165, 171 (2013). In order to protect these interests, police may conduct a warrantless search of a vehicle to inventory its contents prior to a lawful impound. *Id*.

Inventory searches may not be used, however, to justify an officer's entry into a vehicle where the officer's true purpose is merely to search for or seize evidence, rather than actually to compile an inventory. *Id.* (citing *State v. Houser*, 95 Wn.2d 143, 155, 622 P.2d 1218 (1980); *State v. Montague*, 73 Wn.2d 381, 385, 438 P.2d 571 (1968)). Thus, our Supreme Court has held that where officers asserted at trial that they had conducted an inventory search but the record did not indicate that they had continued their search after discovering incriminating evidence or made a complete list of items in the vehicle, their actions could not "fairly be characterized as an inventory search." *State v. Gluck*, 83 Wn.2d 424, 428-29, 518 P.2d 703 (1974).

The video from Trooper Meldrum's front-facing camera convincingly demonstrates that he, like the officers in *Gluck*, used the inventory-search exception simply as a post-hoc rationalization for an intrusion whose true purpose was to investigate a suspected crime.

After Meldrum arrested both men in the car, more troopers arrived on the scene. Ex. 7, "631@20110522215221.mpg," at 6:30-7:00. A few minutes later, Meldrum said to one of them, "I want to take a picture of it first, then I'll take it out." *Id.* at 12:17-12:20. Meldrum then expressed his belief that he had observed the marijuana in "open view," because when he "made the driver's side contact, [he] looked right at it." *Id.* at 12:25-12:31. A female trooper responded, "Well couldn't there be consent needed, though, right?" *Id.* at 12:42-12:46. The troopers then commenced a discussion regarding the difference between "open view" and "plain view," and the female trooper expressed her view that "plain view is when you can take it" and only applies "when you're already inside a protected area." *Id.* at 12:46-12:54. Meldrum, approaching the car to take pictures, responded, "We can always get a consent." *Id.* at 12:58-13:01.

Shortly thereafter, another trooper said something to Meldrum as Meldrum was taking the pictures. This comment is not audible on the recording, but Meldrum responded to it by saying, "Well that depends. If I have to get a warrant, yeah then we'll just take it to the bullpen. If he gives me consent, I'll just take it out." *Id.* at 13:29-13:37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This segment of the audio is somewhat difficult to understand, but the female trooper's statement is at least close to the transcription provided here.

The conversation continued, still with the other trooper's statements inaudible. Trooper Meldrum, however, next stated, "What's that? I shouldn't—I shouldn't need one," again apparently referring to a warrant. *Id.* at 13:41-13:46. In the next intelligible portion of the recording, Meldrum tells the other trooper, "We could always ask him. You got a camera in your car?" *Id.* at 13:56-14:01. In context, this statement clearly implied that the troopers were considering asking Usher, who was then handcuffed in the back seat of the second trooper's vehicle, for permission to enter his car and seize the marijuana.

Meldrum then walked back to his car, repositioned the camera so that its view included the passenger side of Usher's car, returned to Usher's car, opened the front passenger door, removed the marijuana as well as Mr. Washington's keys, wallet, and cell phone from the front seat area, and brought the items to the hood of his car to examine them in view of the dashboard camera. *Id.* at 14:00-15:05. Meldrum did not appear to inspect any other area of the car's interior, nor did he conduct a walkaround to inspect the exterior condition of the car. *Id.* After he had removed the items from the front seat, Meldrum turned to another trooper and said, "Yeah, you want to start a tow?" *Id.* at 16:17-16:24.

Several minutes later, that trooper returned to Usher's car and spent several minutes examining it, repeatedly peering through the windows, opening the rear passenger door to inspect the rear seat, and performing an external walkaround, all while taking notes on a clipboard. *Id.* at 25:42-28:48. Trooper Meldrum did not participate in this inspection. *See id.* 

When Trooper Meldrum was questioned during the CrR 3.6 hearing, he acknowledged that the other trooper, Trooper Pearson, did the inventory and impound procedure. The identifying information on the impound inventory and authorization form indicates that somebody other than Meldrum completed and signed it. Thus, there is no indication that Trooper Meldrum assisted Trooper Pearson in conducting the impound or inventory search or filling out the paperwork.

Taken together, this evidence establishes that Trooper Meldrum seized the marijuana from inside the car only because he had already identified it as potential evidence, and not as any part of an inventory search. Before Meldrum entered the car, he expressed his intention to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The completed form does not include the printed name of the trooper who filled it out, but it is signed by a trooper who indicated that his badge number was 632. Ex. 21 at 2. The investigation report that Trooper Meldrum filed in this case shows that his badge number is 631, and his signature on that report does not match the signature on the impound and inventory form. CP 25.

"take a picture of it first, then . . . take it out," apparently referring to the marijuana. In his subsequent conversation with the other troopers, he repeatedly stated his belief that he did not need a warrant to seize the marijuana. He indicated that he thought he could seize the marijuana without a warrant because he had seen it from outside the car, but he also discussed the possibility of obtaining consent. He then entered the car and seized the marijuana, without inspecting the rest of the car. He never mentioned impounding the car or conducting an inventory search until after he had seized the marijuana. And even then, he asked another trooper to conduct the procedure and did not participate himself.

The only plausible interpretation of this evidence is that Trooper Meldrum's seizure of the marijuana had everything to do with retrieving evidence and nothing to do with inventorying the contents of the car. Had these facts been brought to the trial court's attention, it may well have found that Trooper Meldrum was not conducting an inventory search when he seized the marijuana, and suppressed the evidence.

ii. Mr. Washington's counsel inexplicably failed to present the evidence during the hearing that would have refuted the court's finding.

Despite the compelling evidence contained in this recording, Mr. Washington's attorney did not present any of it for the court's consideration, either in the written motion or during the hearing. The record establishes that the State had provided a copy of the recording to counsel more than two months before the hearing. Supp. CP \_\_\_\_\_ (Discovery Distribution Receipt, filed Nov. 14, 2012). The State cited to the recording in its response to Mr. Washington's motion to suppress. CP 49. And counsel demonstrated that he was familiar with at least part of the recording by referring to its contents while cross-examining Trooper Meldrum during the suppression hearing. RP 70-71, 74-75.

There is therefore no reason why Mr. Washington's counsel should not have been aware of the full contents of the two recordings contained on the DVD. The importance of fully reviewing those recordings before the hearing on the motion to suppress would have been obvious to competent counsel. And Mr. Washington could not conceivably stand to gain from declining to present that evidence at the hearing. Yet counsel failed to use any of the video evidence—which shows Trooper Meldrum taking actions clearly inconsistent with an

inventory search—to support his argument that the seizure did not occur during a valid inventory search. That failure rendered his performance objectively deficient. And because the evidence that he should have introduced was so strong, his failure to present it undermines confidence in the outcome of the hearing and the trial on this charge. The objective unreasonableness and prejudicial effect of counsel's performance therefore rendered his assistance constitutionally defective.

b. Mr. Washington was deprived of his sole defense against the marijuana-possession charge by his attorney's failure to offer an appropriate jury instruction.

A defendant also receives ineffective assistance of counsel if (1) his attorney deficiently fails to propose a jury instruction (2) to which he is entitled, and (3) that failure prejudices him. *State v. Johnston*, 143 Wn. App. 1, 21, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007) (citing *State v. Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001)). The record below shows that Mr. Washington's counsel failed to propose an instruction that was required in order for the jury to find that he had successfully proved his affirmative defense to the marijuana charge. Mr. Washington was entitled to receive that instruction, and its absence deprived him of the only defense he had presented to that charge. His attorney therefore

performed deficiently and caused him prejudice by failing to propose the necessary instruction, thereby providing ineffective assistance of counsel.

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