A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANTS ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

Whether the trial court's findings at the suppression hearing

are verities on appeal? 

2. Whether the defendant fails to meet his burden on a claim

of ineffective assistance of counsel in the suppression motion

where the evidence he claims counsel failed to rely upon was

before the court and was consistent with the evidence trial counsel

did elicit? 

3. Whether the defendant fails to meet his burden on a claim

of ineffective assistance of counsel based on counsel's failure to

request a jury instruction on the medical cannabis affirmative

defense where the defendant was not entitled to raise the defense? 

4. Whether the defendant's claim that insufficient evidence

supported the " prior conviction for a serious felony" element of the

unlawful possession of a firearm statute is without merit where the

defendant stipulated that he had previously been convicted of a

serious felony, thereby waiving any challenge on that basis? 
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5. Whether the defendant's claim that insufficient evidence

supported the trial court' s imposition of discretionary legal

financial obligations is without merit where the claim is premature

because a determination regarding a defendant' s likely future

ability to pay, and the defendant's standing to challenge that

determination, is not made until the State acts to pursue collection

on the obligation? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

1. Procedure

On May 23, 2011, based on an incident that occurred the day

before, the State filed an information charging Naaman Washington with: 

Count 1, Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to

Deliver, Marijuana; and Count III, Unlawful Possession of a Controlled

Substance with Intent to Deliver, Hydrocodone. 1 CP 1- 2. Count I and III

included an enhancement allegation that the defendant was armed with a

firearm. CP 1. 

On March 19, 2012, the State filed an Amended Information that

added Count IV, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree; 

1
Presumably Count 11 was filed only against his co-defendant. 
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and Count V, Unlawful Possession of a Firearm in the First Degree. CP 5- 

7. The Amended Information also alleged a second firearm sentence

enhancement as to Counts I and 111. CP 5- 7. 

On January 16, 2013, the case was formally assigned to the

Honorable Judge Orlando for trial. CP 197; CP
1952

On January 16, 

2013, the defense filed a Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to KnapstadICrR

3. 6. CP 69- 100. That same day, the case went before the Honorable

Judge James Orlando for a suppression hearing. CP 197. The court

denied the suppression motion. CP 199; CP 188- 191. 

On January 17, 2013, the State submitted a Second Amended

Information that removed the firearm sentence enhancements on Counts I

and 111. CP 199; CP 157 -58.
3

Ajury was empaneled on January 17. CP

For purposes of the charges of unlawful possession of a firearm, 

the parties entered a stipulation regarding Defendant' s Criminal History, 

and stipulated that he had previously been convicted of a serious offense. 

CP 142- 43. 

On January 23, 2013, the jury returned verdicts finding the

defendant guilty as to counts 1, 111, and IV. CP 159- 162. 

2 The print-date of the form is January 16. It was not filed until January 18, however the
court empaneled the jury on January 17, 
3 The Second Amended Information was not actually stamped as filed until January 23, 
2013, 
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On February 1, 2013, the court sentenced the defendant to a total

of 67 months of confinement. CP 166- 179. 

The defendant timely filed the notice of appeal on February 11, 

2103. CP 180. 

This brief is the State's response to the appellant's brief. 

2. Facts

a. Facts at CrR 3. 6 hearing

The following is taken from the courts findings and conclusions

regarding the CrR 3. 6 motion. 

1. The Court found Trooper Meldrum and Jerry Clark to be

credible witnesses. 

2. Trooper Meldrum stopped California Smith-Usher at

approximately 9: 50 pin on May 22, 2011 on 1- 5 past the M Street overpass

in Tacoma. The place where Smith-Usher stopped is a no- park, tow away

zone on 1- 5. 

3. The trooper stopped Smith-Usher because his driver' s license

was suspended. On contact, the trooper determined Smith-Usher was the

driver and defendant was sitting in the front passenger seat. The trooper

told Smith-Usher the reason for the stop and informed him that the traffic

stop was being recorded. 

4. Trooper Meldrum smelled a strong odor of marijuana coming

from inside the car. He then saw a Taco Bell bag filled with pre-packaged
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baggier of marijuana sitting between defendant' s feet. The trooper noted

that the bag was so full that the marijuana was protruding out of the bag. 

Defendant acknowledged possession of the marijuana. 

5. Trooper Meldrum arrested defendant. The trooper found a

bottle containing 22 hydrocodone pills in defendant' s pocket during a

search incident to arrest. The bottle did not have a label. Defendant said

it wore off. 

6. Defendant gave the trooper medical marijuana authorization

paperwork from CannaPath for Latoya Cole. He gave the trooper a

second piece of paper purported to be caregiver authorization which had

no header for a business and did not have any identifying name on it other

that the name of Latoya Cole and defendant' s name as the listed caregiver. 

7. Trooper Meldrum arrested Smith-Usher for DWLS 3 and

placed him into custody. 

8. Trooper Pearson arrived to assist. The troopers prepared the car

for impound because Smith-Usher's car was in a no- park, tow-away zone. 

Trooper Meldrum retrieved defendant' s wallet, cell phone, and the bag

from the front passenger' s side of the car. The marijuana was in a Taco

Bell bag which held several separate pre-packaged baggier of marijuana. 

WSP dispatch informed the troopers that Smith-Usher and defendant were

convicted felons. Trooper Meldrum drove defendant and Smith-Usher to

Pierce County Jail. 
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9. Jerry Clark, a Gene' s Towing driver, arrived to impound

defendants' car. Clark did a impound inventory of the car and found two

handguns in the car. He contacted WSP dispatch and told them about the

guns. WSP dispatch informed Trooper Meldrum who had just dropped off

Smith-Usher and defendant at Pierce County Jail. 

10. Trooper Meldrum went to Gene' s Towing' s lot and met with

Clark, who told the trooper, he was doing his inventory of the vehicle, per

his company' s policy and found a handgun inside the locked glove box. 

He stated he also found a handgun inside the pocket of a black jacket

located on the rear seat placed directly behind the driver. He informed me

that the black pistol was inside the glove box. 

11. Trooper Meldrum observed the black pistol lying on the

passenger seat. The second gun was lying on the roof of the Taurus on top

of black jacket. Jerry Clark told Trooper Meldrum that he wanted the

trooper to take the firearms because his company does not like giving

loaded guns to people when they come to pick up their cars after an

impound. 

12. Trooper Meldrum took the firearms to his patrol car. He did a

records check and determined someone reported one of the firearms stolen

through Seattle PD. The trooper subsequently got a warrant to seize the

weapons through Judge Larkin. 

13. Trooper Meldrum listened to the audio- visual recording of the

traffic stop described above. He heard defendant make statements
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regarding dominion and control of the firearm which Jerry Clark found in

the back seat of Smith-Usher's car. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Defendant's motion to dismiss pursuant to State v. Knapstad is

denied. The State demonstrated a dispute as to material facts and

presented sufficient evidence to support its charges against defendant, 

2. The troopers validly impounded defendants' car and the

troopers lawfully conducted a pre- impound inventory search of the car. 

3. Trooper Meldrum legally secured the firearms pursuant to a

valid seizure warrant. 

4. Defendant's motion to dismiss pursuant to CrR 3. 6 is denied. 

All evidence seized by the troopers is admissible. 

b. Facts at Trial

The facts at trial are substantially similar to those presented at the

CrR 3. 6 hearing. Accordingly, they are not repeated. If necessary for

purposes of the State's argument, specific references will be made to the

record. 

C. ARGUMENT. 

I THE TRIAL COURTS FINDINGS ARE VERITIES ON

APPEAL. 

An appellate court reviews only those findings to which error has

been assigned; unchallenged findings of fact are verities upon appeal. 
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State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 647, 870 P.2d 313 ( 1994). As to

challenged factual findings, the court reviews the record to see if there is

substantial evidence to support the challenged facts; if there is, then those

findings are also binding upon the appellate court. Hill, 123 Wn.2d at

644. Substantial evidence exists when there is a sufficient quantity of

evidence to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the

finding. Hill, at 644. Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact

and are not subject to appellate review. State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 

71, 794 P.2d 850 ( 1990). 

In Henderson Homes, Inc v. City ofBothell, 124 Wn.2d 240, 877

P.2d 176 ( 1994), the Supreme Court was faced with an appellant who

assigned error to the findings of fact but did not argue how the findings

were not supported by substantial evidence; made no cites to the record to

support its assignments; and cited no authority. The court held that under

these circumstances, the assignments of error to the findings were without

legal consequence and that the findings must be taken as verities. 

It is elementary that the lack of argument, lack of citation to
the record, and lack of any authorities preclude
consideration of those assignments. The findings are

verities. 

Henderson, 124 Wn.2d at 244; see also, State v. Jacobson, 92 Wn. App. 

958, 964 n. 1, 965 P.2d 1140 ( 1998). 
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A finding of fact that is erroneously denominated as a conclusion